Public Document Pack

ENFIELD

Council

ADVANCE PUBLICATION OF
REPORTS

This publication gives five clear working days’ notice of the decisions listed below.

These decisions are due to be signed by individual Cabinet Members
and operational key decision makers.

Once signed all decisions will be published on the Council’s
Publication of Decisions List.

1. APPROVE THE INTRODUCTION OF THE BOWES EAST CONTROLLED
PARKING ZONE (Pages 1 - 50)



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Agenda ltem 1

London Borough of Enfield

Title: Portfolio Report to Approve the Introduction
of the Bowes East Controlled Parking Zone

Report to: Doug Wilkinson — Director of Environment & Streetscene
ClIr Rick Jewell - Cabinet Member for Environment

Date of Report 2 Oct 2023

briefing:

Directors: Doug Wilkinson — Director of Environment & Streetscene

Simon Pollock — Interim Executive Director of Environment
(Environment and Communities Department)

Report Author: Jonathan Goodson
jonathan.goodson@enfield.gov.uk

Ward(s) affected: Bowes ward

Classification: Part | Public

Purpose of Report

1. The report considers the response to the preliminary consultation (August
2022) and statutory consultation (May 2023) on the proposed controlled
parking zone in the Bowes East area and recommends that a scheme be
implemented, as advertised, on a permanent basis.

Recommendations

I.  To approve — the making of a traffic management orders pursuant to the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and the undertaking of all other necessary steps to
implement the parking zone shown at Appendix A on a permanent basis, which
introduces resident permit controls operating 11am to 1pm, Monday to Friday.

II.  To approve — the funding of the estimated £30,000 implementation costs from
the Parking Development Fund.




Page 2

Background and Options

Policy Context and Travel Habit Implications: The Council declared a

climate emergency in 2019 and has the ambition, as set out in its
subsequent climate action plan, of achieving net zero carbon emissions by
2030, including the reduction in use of private vehicles within the borough.

In line with the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and its own policy framework,

the Council continues to promote active travel via its scheme work and
messaging in order to help the community achieve better levels of physical
activity whilst reducing the detrimental noise, nuisance and road safety
factors associated with excessive car use. The following table sets out the
relevant policy context.

London
Plan
(2021)

The current London Plan includes policies relating to the
management of car parking demand to encourage a shift to
more sustainable modes. The Plan goes on to set out how
private vehicle ownership should be addressed in spatial
planning, by making it clear that low or car free development
should be the norm and setting lower maximum car parking
standards for new developments.

Mayor of
London’s
Transport
Strategy
(2018)

Given London’s forecast population and employment growth,
the Mayor’s Transport Strategy makes it clear that, in order to
deliver this sustainably, the use of active and sustainable
transport must be increased and overdependence on private
vehicles reduced. One of the measures to achieve this is the
prioritising of finite road and kerbside space for the most
space efficient modes of transport (with private vehicles being
the least efficient). CPZs therefore have an important part to
play in contributing to the Mayor’s overarching target for 80%
of trips to be made by walking, cycling or public transport by
2041.

Enfield
Transport
Plan
(2019)

The policies, programmes and initiatives within the plan aim
to improve the ease in which we travel in the borough,
encouraging sustainable and active travel to help manage
environmental problems related to congestion, local air
quality, reduce our impact on climate change and improve
health, safety and accessibility. The plan identifies how we
will work towards achieving this through the seven transport
objectives, one of which is: Manage growing demand for on-
street parking, recognising that there is simply not enough
road space to safely and efficiently accommodate everyone
who wishes to park or drive in Enfield today or in the future.




Page 3

Climate The need for urgent action to address climate change has
Action Plan | been recognised, with Enfield declaring a Climate Change
(2020) Emergency in July 2019 and adopting a Climate Action Plan

in September 2020. Given that transport contributes around
39% of the Enfield’s borough wide energy emissions, taking
action in this area must be part of the Council’s response.
The plan sets out a number of actions, one of which is: Limit
the provision of car parking spaces on new developments in
line with the New London Plan and better manage existing
kerbside space.

Air Quality | The following action — managing growing demand for on-

Action Plan | street parking - is one of those set out to help with the air

(2022) quality priorities identified below:

e make active travel the natural choice, particularly for those
trips less than 2km (1.2 miles).

¢ make more school trips safe, sustainable and healthy.

e reduce the impact of private vehicles on our streets
(through a reduction in emissions).

e make the public transport network more accessible and the
natural choice for longer trips.

e reduce emissions from both existing buildings and new
development.

4. A perceived deficit of domestic parking space is a recurring topic of
complaint submitted to the Council. But so too are the issues of main road
congestion and excessive levels of traffic using residential streets. Hence,
even if it were viable, and within local and regional policy, to provide
ample parking space for new homes - or retrofit it to existing streets —
doing so would only serve to boost car ownership levels and thereby
exacerbate the network’s lack of spare capacity for vehicles in motion.

5. Demand for travel will only increase with the growing local population and
additionally the use of private cars is the least space efficient form of
travel. Furthermore, neither of these or the transition to electric vehicles
solve the problem of the use of private cars in growing numbers, resulting
in this overwhelming the finite capacity of the network to accommodate
them.

6. The view of officers is that residential parking zones can contribute to the
set of measures needed to (a) increase the uptake in active travel and (b)
moderate demand for private car usage across the community, by bringing
the following desirable effects:

(i) Commuters: Deter mass daily car-based commuting into the area by
those accessing train and bus services by removal of ‘free parking’ in the
surrounding residential streets, thus encouraging commuters to switch to
active or sustainable forms of travel for this leg of their journeys.

(i) Residents: Prompt some occupants of homes within the zone, by the
introduction of the modest annual permit prices, to dispose of vehicles



Page 4

they can make do without, encouraging more use of alternative modes of
travel by this cohort.

(iif) Domestic visitors: Persuade visitors to homes within the zone to,
likewise, consider alternative modes of travel for these trips, thereby
avoiding the modest cost to the zone resident of the necessary visitor
parking permits.

(iv) Local retail: Encourage local store owners and their workers (as with
other commuters) to switch to active or sustainable options when travelling
to work by removing the option of all-day free parking on nearby streets.
Also, to exert a similar influence on the travel habits of customers, whilst
retaining some scope for parking outside of the controlled period to assist
those customers whose journeys are least easily done without a car.

7. The Council recognises the need for continuing car use by blue badge
holders and by those employed to provide care to residents within the
neighbourhood. Low-cost permit provision for registered carers is common
to all Enfield’s parking zones, as are free permits for blue badge holders
who keep vehicles registered within the zone.

8. The Council also recognises that not all trips can be made easily without a
private car, and that some residents have barriers to selecting active travel
options. This notwithstanding, the Council continues to develop its cycling
network, and favour interventions that encourage walking. The borough’s
residents are well served by train services and a network of high
frequency bus routes.

9. Recent data (gathered together under Annex A to the June 2021 Enfield
Healthy Streets Framework) reveals that 48% of trips in Enfield are made
by car, compared to the London average of 35%. More than half of all trips
on Enfield’s network are less than 5km (3 miles), and hence are
considered easily achievable by bicycle, equating to a 20-minute ride. Yet
fewer than 1% of trips are, at present, being cycled. Looking just at trips
made by car in Enfield, more than one in ten are shorter than 1km;
equating to just a 15 to 20 minute walk. Overall, then, there is vast
potential for more active travel.

10.Given that the majority of trip-makers will not have significant barriers to
other travel options, the obvious conclusion is that a large body of trips in
the borough continues to be made by car outside of necessity and
probably due to force of habit or simply an excessive preference for the
perceived comfort or convenience of car travel. These habits contribute to
local congestion, problems around school entrances, low levels of physical
activity, and all the other unwanted effects of traffic-dominance felt by local
communities. They also take up road space better left clear for vehicles
serving the wider public — such as emergency vehicles and buses - and
for those drivers with a genuine need to travel by car.

11.Accordingly, it benefits the wider community in the short term, as well as
helping avoid gridlock in the longer term, to bring forward interventions
that interrupt residents’ prevailing habits around excessive car use.
Officers see parking zones as a key component in this approach.



Page 5

12.Single Yellow Lines — Balancing Resident Benefits/Drawbacks: High
demand for new parking zones stands in contrast to the number of
requests from the community, which is zero or close thereto, for having
them removed. This underlines the view that the schemes offer inherent
advantage to residents and that most judge the permit costs to offer good
value. The controls delete a daily influx of commuter vehicles circulating
around the neighbourhood as well as occupying its kerbsides. They cue
residents, via graduated permit tariffs, to no longer store their largest
vehicles on the street, where some complain they look unsightly and
hinder visibility. They deter certain households from taking up
unreasonable amounts of space by the ownership of multiple numbers of
vehicles. They keep more space clear for visitors and delivery vehicles.
And they resolve, at a stroke, issues of little-used vehicles being left on-
street in long term storage by those living in the wider neighbourhood.

13.Referring back to section 6, this large degree of advantage to residents
poses the risk that the desirable effects applying to the travel habits of the
wider community are diluted by the tendency for schemes to free-up
parking space and thereby increase the scope for those within the zone to
own, and make more regular use of, private cars. Maintaining the
convention of adding single yellow lines across driveways within the limits
of a parking scheme helps maintain a degree of balance in this regard.

14.The original purpose of adding the single yellow lines — a component
explicitly stipulated within previous versions of Department for Transport
guidance on parking zones - was to deter inconsiderate drivers from
blocking unmarked driveways during the operational period of the zone,
instead of taking the somewhat greater risk of parking within a bay with no
permit. A single yellow line operating at the same period, thus, removes
this temptation. A second benefit is around recognition: the distinctive
combination of bays and single yellow lines at crossovers offers
confirmation to unfamiliar drivers that they remain within a parking zone.
Officers feel these benefits still apply, even though latest government
guidance leaves the component as optional.

15.Placing the single yellow line does not stop households continuing to
improvise secondary parking positions across their own dropped kerbs
overnight, etc, when domestic parking demand is highest. Hence it is not
so profound a drawback, in the view of officers, as to outweigh all the
advantages a zone offers the households within. But it does present some
helpful limitation (as one objector believes is warranted) on the levels of
vehicle ownership within the zone, notably households with dropped
kerbs. It addresses, furthermore, two key complaints about balance.

16.Households beyond the zone boundary will often complain about nuisance
parking being displaced onto surrounding streets. The Council
acknowledges this phenomenon but mitigates the adverse effects by
selecting zones with strong boundary features — such as Green Lanes, in
this case — and by checking that the streets beyond the boundaries are
either covered by alternative controls or better able to accommodate
overspill parking than those within; usually by dint of most homes without,



Page 6

on Wolves Lane for example, having off-street parking spaces. However,
the addition of the single yellow lines offers a degree of balance in the
matter, assigning those within the boundary a small share of the collective
drawbacks to a zone being introduced.

17.Households that elect not to modify the original layout of their property by
installing frontage parking sometimes take the view, not unreasonably,
that they have helped maintain communal kerbsides, local greenery and
floodwater attenuation areas while their neighbours, for their own
convenience, have done otherwise. And that their neighbour’s dropped
kerbs effectively afford the household a second kerbside space for their
sole use. This grievance is exacerbated with the introduction of parking
controls as now the household with the paved frontage can feel the benefit
of less densely-parked streets but avoid permit costs that those car-
owners without frontage parking have little option but to pay. From this
perspective there is better balance to apply the single yellow lines than to
omit them, serving as a reminder that parking across one’s own dropped
kerbs is a freedom, not an entitlement.

18.Preliminary Consultation for Bowes East CPZ: The Council first
consulted on a parking zone covering the streets shown at Appendix A in
November 2021, prompted by petitions submitted from Princes Avenue
and Tottenhall Road indicating high support for a permit parking scheme.
Further interest from the residents and elected representatives followed,
despite a pause in the project work to take stock of the low response rate
of just 5% to the initial consultation effort.

19.A follow up consultation in August 2022 yielded much greater levels of
participation, with a response rate of 22%. Overall good levels of support
(59%) were found. Only modest levels of opposition arose, even in the
streets where most homes have driveways. In such streets the proposals
were always less likely to find favour. Opposition was most pronounced in
Grenoble Gardens, for example, but even here only 12 of 105 households
were moved to submit comments in opposition.

— Approx. Number of|  Number of Response Rate In Support Opposed Not Sure
Homes Responses

Number | Percentage | Number |Percentage| Number | Percentage
Fairbrook Close 3 1 11% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%
Princes Avenue 149 53 36% 36 3% 16 0% 1 2%
Tottenhall Road 120 36 30% i1 86%| 3 W% 0 0%
Grencble Gardens 103 16 15% 4 2% 12 750 0 0%
Upsdell Avenue 123 17 13% 7 4% 10 5% 0 0%
Berkshire Gardens 134 17 13% 1] 35% 10 59%| 1 6%
COMBINED 645 140 2% a5 59% 53 0% 2 1%

20.The following minor amendments were made to the design:

(i) Supplementary proposals to introduce kerbside cycle hangers were
deleted from the three positions that attracted adverse comment: on
Princes Avenue, Upsdell Avenue and Berkshire Gardens. (The Grenoble
Gardens cycle hanger had previously been relocated to an area of
footway build out, and the Tottenhall Road cycle hanger attracted no
objections. Both are thus retained within the final proposals.)




Page 7

(i) Two disabled bays were added near the dental practice on Upsdell
Avenue in response to the surgery management objecting to the reduction
in parking options for their less able patients.

(i) Various minor alterations were made to the position of bays to account
for newly introduced crossovers and similar.

21.Statutory Consultation for Bowes East CPZ: In April 2023 the Council

ran its statutory consultation exercise on the revised proposals, which
included notices published in the London Gazette, in the local newspaper
and posted in the street. An updated leaflet was distributed across the
zone and an email was sent to individuals whose email addresses had
been captured under previous engagement.

22.Believing that the previous consultation established the degree of overall

support across the area, the Council conducted its statutory consultation
with a primary focus on inviting individuals who opposed the scheme to
provide their feedback. The relevant regulations require the Council to
consider such representations before proceeding but set no requirement
to document messages of support.

23.Nonetheless 15 submissions of support were submitted within the 62 total

responses. The 43 objections from within the zone represent around 7%
of households. The 47 objections in total were split across the area as
shown:

Princes Tottenhall Grenoble Upsdell Berkshire Outside
Avenue Road Gardens Avenue Gardens Zone
17 6 8 6 6 4

24.Addressing Recurring Objections: Typically for such schemes, the

cohort of objectors submit overlapping points of opposition, with some
responses featuring a multitude of those points. The table below captures
and addresses the 11 recurring points of objection that were submitted.

Objection 1: The Proposals Are Not Wanted
Paying to park in the street, along with other drawbacks, is unwanted.

Parking zone schemes are prone to polarise opinion and will never be
universally welcomed. They will always suit the circumstances of some
households better than others depending on what shifts the occupants
work, how many vehicles they own, what off-street parking options they
enjoy, how many visitors they receive or simply what end of the street
they live at. Even so, a clear conclusion drawn from the previous 20
parking zones Enfield Council has introduced is that schemes are well
valued by residents once in place. This is demonstrated by how many
requests for new parking zones are received by the Council each year
and how few requests (possibly none at all) are ever submitted seeking
their removal.

The Council sets out, above, the wider benefits to the community of
such schemes, and the specific advantages that tend to apply to those
living within the zone. While 43 correspondents inside the zone have




Page 8

written to say the scheme is not wanted, unsolicited petitions for permit
parking controls from the 2019/20 period featured signatures from 78
homes in Tottenhall Road and 65 from Princes Avenue, together
outnumbering the eventual set of statutory stage objectors more than 3
to 1. The consultation exercise that followed found, similarly, more
households in favour (85 altogether) than households against (53).

The Council must balance the wider benefits of a scheme against the
disbenefits to individual households. A good case can be made to
proceed, even in light of a very mixed set of responses, in order to
capture those benefits as well as to give residents the opportunity to see
how the reality of living in a permit parking area differs from their most
strongly expressed fears.

Government affords local authorities the powers to introduce permit
parking zones without setting minimum levels of local support, and their
placement across public streets has long been entirely commonplace. A
council that takes reasonable steps to avoid proposals that are highly
unpopular or unsuitable, and that seeks to avoid or mitigate any
particular localised drawbacks that are identified, operates within its
rightful powers to advance such proposals to implementation.

Objection 2: Permit Costs

Permits are unaffordable, should be free or at least cheaper, should not
vary by engine size, are unfair, are high compared to the relatively short
duration (2 hours) of the controlled period, are too costly for this
neighbourhood, will prompt anxiety and poor mental health.

Summary of Permit Prices in Enfield Parking Zones

For the sake of consistency and fairness, zonal permit prices are
standardised across all 20 of Enfield’s across-the-week resident parking
zones. Prices are halved for short hour zones, relative to all day zones,
hence the relatively short duration of the favoured controlled period is
accounted for in the pricing. (Topic discussed further at Objection 5.)

Resident permits - 1-to-4 hour zones
Engine size First permit| Second and third permit
1000cc or less, and electric vehicles £38.50 £47.50
1001cc to 1600cc £77.50 £97.50
1601cc to 19599cc £115 £145
2000cc or more £197.50 £249

The ascending price based on engine size reflects the tendency for
vehicles with larger engines to occupy more space and to pollute more.
The roughly 25% surcharge on second or third permits is to provide
some limiting factor on excessive car ownership within the zone. The
revised pricing regime was decided by a recent Council decision on the
matter, effective January 2023, and was subject to the normal approval
and scrutiny procedures. Across all zones permits can be acquired free
of charge by resident blue badge holders. So-called ‘essential permits’




Page 9

can be purchased for £25 upon application and their eligibility covers
registered carers.

Justification for Charging for Permits

It is typical across London that residents are asked to pay for permits for
such schemes to match the cost of scheme administration and
additional enforcement activity. Government advice directs councils to
ensure their parking control accounts are self-financing. Permit prices
are therefore set, borough wide, with the aim of breaking even.

Local authorities must publish details of their parking revenue accounts
annually and must keep an account of their income and expenditure in
respect of parking places. Any surplus is ringfenced under section 55 of
the Road Traffic Regulation Act with approved uses including meeting
costs incurred for public passenger transport services, and for road
maintenance or highway improvement works.

The prevailing convention in the UK is that any driver can park at the
side of a public road, so long as this is not obstructive and there are no
restrictions to say otherwise. Curtailing this convention to favour
residents is a discretionary power and the Council must balance the
benefits to residents against the potential disbenefits to the wider public.
Zonal controls can be viewed as an intervention that offer the most
direct benefit to local car-owners, and offer only indirect benefits to the
roughly one third of households that do not own a car. It is appropriate
to ask those who benefit most from the intervention to help pay for it,
thus making any such scheme a viable proposition.

The Argument for Permit Charges Being Reasonable & Affordable

Section 12 sets out why residents in existing zonal parking areas should
find the controls good value for money. The annual permit price for a
small hatchback in Bowes East CPZ will be £77.50, which equates to
just £1.50 per week. This is dwarfed by many other weekly transport
costs people typically incur like oyster fares or fuelling their cars.

Ongoing costs associated with keeping and running a car (setting aside
the cost to purchase one) can easily reach £1000 per year, when
considering vehicle tax, insurance, MOT and maintenance, sundry
parking fees, and the cost of fuel. Permit prices were recently reviewed
by the Council and new charges came into effect from January 2023,
informed by a detailed equality impact assessment. The charges are set
to ensure that the cost of administering, operating and enforcing CPZs
is fully covered.

As set out in the equality impact assessment, households for whom
annual permit charges might not be affordable are likely to be relatively
small in number. However, it is acknowledged that permit cost could be
a issue for some. This is mitigated to some extent by the fact that:

e |f applicable, permits are free to blue badge holders;




Page 10

e The controlled hours only operate between 11am-1pm Monday to
Friday, enabling some to avoid the need to purchase a permit if
they are not at home during these hours;

e On-street parking is still available outside the zone, a relatively
shorty walk away.

It is also noted that there has been no call to remove permit controls
from streets across the Bowes Park CPZ, since being introduced to the
west of Green Lanes in 2019. Streets therein like Marlborough Road
and Whittington Road bear comparison in character and housing stock
to Princes Avenue and Tottenhall Road; these are the two streets with
highest housing density in the proposed Bowes East CPZ. A measure
that appears to be affordable and well valued in one zone, should prove
likewise in the other. Similarly, the comparable set of streets found to
the south of the borough boundary in Haringey are subject to long-
established permit parking schemes of their own.

For context, a rather less affordable option for vehicle owners seeking
betterment to their parking options is to pay for a domestic crossover.
Records show that 44 of these were added in the wider N13 postcode in
the previous financial year. Five have been newly installed within the
Bowes East area recently enough to have necessitated updates to the
drawings since the original consultation: three in Upsdell Avenue, one
each in Princes Avenue and Grenoble Gardens. The typical one-off cost
of installing a crossover — which is £2,300 at latest prices - equates to
30 years’ worth of annual permits at £77.50 for a small hatchback.

Objection 3: Scheme is Revenue Motivated, Not Needed/Justified
There are few parking issues, there is little commuter or shopper use of
the streets, the closest train stations are too distant to attract
commuters, it is a money-making idea for the Council, no evidence has
been issued proving community support.

Deterring On-Street Commuter Parking

The need to compete for on-street parking space with a cohort of drivers
who were strongly suspected to be daily commuters was the main factor
that is understood to have prompted residents of Princes Avenue and
Tottenhall Road to first undertake petitioning. From these streets came
the main body of support for a parking zone when the neighbourhood
was later consulted. Comments submitted in writing and by telephone
from these residents left little doubt that commuter parking activity was
prevalent, with workers heading to the nearby bus depot being one
group mentioned often.

It was, likewise, commuter activity that prompted the introduction of the
Bowes Park CPZ in 2019, which can be thought of as the twin of the
proposed Bowes East zone lying immediately to the west of Green
Lanes. In Bowes Park, the commuter parking was identified as city-
bound bus and station users, along with a certain amount of high street
outlet workers or customers. It is a reasonable assumption that the
parking habits of these same commuter groups apply similarly on the




Page 11

streets to the east of Green Lanes, especially now those streets to the
west are under permit control. Southbound bus stops directly adjacent
to the zone boundary on Green Lanes offer boarding, across 4 high-
frequency services, equating to 20 buses every hour heading towards
the city. One southbound bus every three minutes represents a
significant draw to commuters when free all-day parking is to be found in
close proximity. Kerbsides at the western limit of the proposed zone are
within a 15-minute walk of Bowes Park Overground Station. This is not
overly far when considering that the 2018 event day zone for the new
stadium at Tottenham came with parking controls that covered streets
within a 30-minute walk.

Supporters of the scheme in the streets south of Tottenhall Road report
nuisance parking activity by commuters, in addition to vehicles
associated with main road premises, and residents from Haringey
storing vehicles in Berkshire Gardens etc to avoid the permit charges
that apply in their own streets.

Altogether, there is little doubt that the streets are attracting drivers from
beyond the area seeking free on-street parking, and in sufficient
numbers to merit an intervention to capture the first benefit listed at
section 6 above. When large numbers of residents are raising petitions,
submitting requests via their ward councillors, and responding positively
to Council consultations to expedite the introduction of a permit system
they will need to help pay for — and citing commuter parking as a key
issue — there is little cause for the Council to expend public money on a
further study to verify it.

Addressing the assertion that evidence of support has not been made
public, submitted petitions and consultation responses are, in essence,
lists of residents’ personal details and signatures. The extent of
redaction required to make them suitable for sharing with the public,
without contravening data protection regulations and basic good
practice around privacy, would render them all but meaningless to the
reader. Ward councillors are independent figures who can confirm the
prevailing views of their constituents on the topic.

It is likely, however, that the degree of non-domestic parking activity will
vary across the zone, so a spectrum of reports on its prevalence is to be
expected. Being persuaded that commuter parking is occurring and
having proposed a parking zone to address it, any council would seek to
draw a suitable zone boundary that minimises displacement of
unwanted parking activity to the streets immediately beyond and
provides coherence to the driving public. This may well leave the
furthest homes covered by the zone at significant remove from the focal
points (the train station, for example) of the commuter activity.
Nevertheless, drawing a zone boundary to leave a coherent area
enclosed within should generally take precedence over drawing one to,
say, an arbitrary point in the street that falls further than a 20-minute
walk from the nearest train station.

Tendency of Objectors to Overlook Wider Benefits




Page 12

Section 6 sets out beneficial effects on local travel habits that officers
link to the introduction of zonal parking measures, but that residents are
unlikely to have in mind when weighing up what direct benefit the
scheme would bring them and their street.

With an estimated one third of households (borough-wide) not owning
vehicles, and roughly half the homes in this particular zone having off-
street parking, it is to be expected that several hundred households from
the 645 inside the proposed boundary might not judge the proposal to
offer a strong direct benefit to their parking arrangements. From which
cohort, 43 following-through and submitting objections to make that
point is not especially high nor unexpected.

The Council acknowledges that the two streets nearest the North
Circular Road (Princes Avenue and Tottenhall Road) are somewhat
dissimilar to the three parallel streets further south in terms of the
amount of off-street parking capacity. With the two northernmost streets
having little capacity, they represent classic parking zone territory. The
other three, with so many of their homes having frontage parking, rather
less so. However, it remains the view of officers that it would be illogical
and imprudent to cover only the first two streets with the parking
controls under this exercise, thus leaving the others sandwiched
between large blocks of housing covered by zonal controls to the north,
west and south. Moreover, given the benefits parking zones can bring to
local travel habits, as set out at sections 6 to 11, the Council should
seek to introduce such controls with a proactive mindset going forward,
not only where the highest levels of support are first identified.

To recap, a local authority has legitimate powers to charge for permits to
enable parking within CPZs, as well as rules it must follow in re-
allocating any identified surplus. Sections 6 to 11 set out the wider
benefits to the community that the Council attributes to introducing
parking zones. The schemes, as set out in section 12, offer a particular
set of advantages to residents within the zone. Accordingly, the Council
acts reasonably and within its powers to advance such schemes and to
use receipts from permit sales to help fund their introduction and
ongoing administration and enforcement activity. Not least when the
majority view within the area of interest is in support of the action.

Objection 4: Impediment to Visitors

The controls will deter friends and family from visiting loved ones living
within the zone, those with care needs will be affected, mental wellbeing
will be affected.

Provision exists for those employed as carers who make visits to the
neighbourhood to apply for an annual ‘essential permit’, at a cost of £25.
Permit applications by those offering regular care visits on a ‘friends and
family’ basis will also be accepted; the standard annual permit charges,
which are only modest, apply to these applicants. Drivers, whatever the
reason for their visit, who display a valid blue badge will not attract
enforcement activity for parking in any of Enfield’s resident-permit holder




Page 13

bays.

For visiting activity, more generally, section 6 sets out the wider benefits
around local travel habits in there being a certain degree of deterrent
around visitors driving to the neighbourhood. People undertaking such
trips by car fall within that group of drivers who; “take up road space
better left clear for vehicles serving the wider public — such as
emergency vehicles and buses - and for those drivers with a genuine
need to travel by car.”

However, visitor permits are available to all households within the
zones. These cost £10.50 for a book of 10 and there is no restriction on
the number of visitor permits that can be obtained. In addition, under the
future arrangements, visitors are more likely to find vacant kerbsides
easier when they arrive.

None of the controls prohibit a driver stopping briefly to pick up or set
down a passenger — where they plan to go out together for lunch, say -
so visitor permits should not be required for such activity. Visitors who
did not want to make use of visitor permits still have the option of visiting
by car at weekends, or outside of the 11am to 1pm controlled period on
weekdays, or by visiting without their car by active travel options or
taking advantage of the excellent public transport options serving the
location. Altogether, there are many reasonable options for visitors to
exhaust before deciding the visit is no longer worth making.

Anxieties around permit controls cutting off visitors to vulnerable or older
residents was a prominent concern raised at the same stage when the
Bowes Park CPZ was being taken forward. To officers’ best knowledge,
the topic never resurfaced in communications with the Council once the
scheme was implemented. Certainly, no request has ever been
submitted to remove the controls on these grounds or any other. It is
likely that the experience in the Bowes East area will prove similar; what
is offered as a point of objection at the consultation stage, likewise, will
not translate into an ongoing point of concern once a scheme has
bedded in.

The one third of households in the borough who do not own a car will
include people who are older, or who have mobility restrictions, or who
have young children to transport, or who make visits to vulnerable
people and so forth. For such people the experience of making journeys
without the facility to travel by car and park for free immediately outside
the destination will be routine. The complaint that the proposed parking
controls place undue restriction on visitors should be considered in that
context.

Objection 5: The Controlled Period is Too Short

Finding parking space is hardest in the evenings, non-domestic parking
activity occurs across the day not just between 1lam and 1pm, permit
costs are excessive for only 2 hours of benefit.

The Council uses experienced officers and other practitioners to advise




Page 14

on the most suitable controlled periods of its proposed parking zones.
Where the primary unwanted parking activity is all-day commuters, short
middle-of-the-day controlled periods will generally suffice. When the
city-bound worker, for example, no longer chooses to leave their vehicle
in the street in the middle of the day for fear of receiving a parking fine
then, naturally, it will no longer be amongst the vehicles occupying
spaces in the early evening either. All day controls are typically favoured
around major retail centres, where numerous visitors could otherwise
travel by car to undertake business in the town centre avoiding the
shorter controlled period. The Bowes East area fits best in the former
category; hence the shorter hours are favoured.

It is, similarly, incorrect to think of the degree of utility a zone offers its
residents to be directly proportional to the duration of the controls. A
zone operating across the 8 hours from 9am to 5pm around a town
centre would delete almost all non-domestic parking, for example, as
drivers are not typically heading out to seek parking spaces in other
people’s streets in the period from S5pm to 9am the following morning. A
zone across the same area that operated, not for just 8 hours, but 24
hours day and night would not be 3 times more effective merely for the
3-fold increase in duration.

The controlled period of 11am to 1pm, weekdays only was chosen to
match up with the hours of the pre-existing Woodside West parking
zone, which covers numerous streets immediately south of Berkshire
Gardens and the borough boundary. This matches the approach taken
with the introduction of the Bowes Park CPZ in 2019, west of Green
Lanes, which was bordered by Haringey streets with 10am to 1pm
controls.

Despite similar fears about the utility of shorter controls arising prior to
the implementation of the Bowes Park CPZ, the experience was that
residents reported a transformational change in the amount of vacant
kerbside seen after the scheme went live. The same rationale that
proved valid for Bowes Park is likely to be proven valid again for Bowes
East CPZ. Legitimate domestic parking activity is still likely to peak in
the evenings, when residents are most likely to be home, and their cars
parked in the street. However, the total available space for these
vehicles will no longer be shared with residents of Haringey storing
vehicles there to avoid permit charges in their own street; nor any
commuters who now need to avoid the 1lam to 1pm period; nor as
many vehicles currently stored on street by residents but which they
need little and will choose not to retain and buy permits for.

Accordingly, even though the middle-of-the-day controlled period will not
prevent each and every non-resident from seeking parking space in the
street towards the end of the day, it will afford permit holders the ability
to dominate use of the space, and will strip away other vehicles in such
numbers that the benefits will be clearly apparent.

Objection 6: Impact on High Street Businesses
Businesses will close or suffer if side-street parking is removed.




Page 15

Section 6 above sets out the deliberate intention that the controls will
present a deterrent to staff of local businesses, as with other daily
commuters, on driving into the area and seeking free all-day parking in
the adjacent side streets. It would be better if these journeys were made
by other means.

While some benefits in deterring visits by customers in private cars is
also identified, this is mitigated by the zone’s shorter hours. Customers
in cars retain the freedom to seek side road parking spaces all day at
weekends and most of the day on weekdays providing visits end before
11am or commence after 1pm. The proposals also retain pre-existing
paid parking places at the western end of the ladder roads, intended to
serve a small number of customers driving to the shops. In terms of
servicing, none of the new zonal controls prohibit short-duration loading
activity. One effect of the scheme may, indeed, be to leave more
kerbside vacant to accommodate such activity.

Small commercial and retail units in a local high street setting may be
less reliant on large amounts of adjacent customer parking space than
the public imagines. Zonal parking controls applied to the side streets on
the west side of Green Lanes in 2019 do not appear to have damaged
the viability of the stores that continue to trade from units on the west
side of the main road. And nor are the similar sections of high street
found on Green Lanes to the south, and bordered both sides by
Haringey’s long-established permit parking zones, seen to be bereft of
retail outlets. This may explain why very little comment has been made
on the proposals across various consultation phases from nearby
traders, but instead appears mostly as a supplementary point of
opposition submitted by objecting residents.

Objection 7: Nuisance Parking at Dropped Kerbs
The Council currently struggles to deter drivers blocking dropped kerbs,
so why should a permit zone be any better observed?

Reports of drivers blocking crossovers are, sadly, fairly common across
the network. Near local retail centres it is especially prevalent, although
typically only for short duration visits. Enforcement officers cannot take
action on sight for this type of offence, but only upon receipt of a
complaint, which enables them to distinguish inconsiderate parking at
crossovers from lawful domestic parking activity.

Once the zonal marking regime is in place, the yellow lines at
crossovers will offer an additional deterrent factor on drivers blocking
private access points and represent a restriction enforceable on sight if
contravened. Moreover, a greater presence of patrolling enforcement
staff is likely, and more easily justified, once the large set of parking
controls is in place. Altogether, any residents finding this a recurring
problem should welcome the introduction of the parking zone, rather
than oppose it.

Objection 8: Single Yellow Lines Not Wanted / Capacity Concerns




Page 16

The finite on-street parking capacity weighed against the number of
potential permits sold, fails to give confidence that a space will be
available when sought. The presence of single yellow lines will further
reduce parking capacity.

Sections above set out officers’ view that the small limitation on
households parking second cars at crossovers is seen as one of the
wider benefits of a parking zone as well as (section 15 to 17) helping to
address issues of balance. The deterrent on unwanted crossover
blocking at Objection 7 is a further advantage.

In terms of anxieties about overall parking capacity, Council messaging
around parking zones is consistent in saying that all schemes have
drawbacks and limitations and that — while introducing a scheme
generally benefits residents with no off-street parking options -
purchasing a permit never guarantees finding a convenient space near
the home. Rather, the idea of permits being valid across the area
underlines the principle that the kerbsides remain communal (within the
cohort of permit holders, during the controlled period) and that car
owners may need to seek second-choice positions when their closest
ones are found occupied. Overall, they are given advantage over non-
residents as a result of the scheme, and on most occasions, this will
improve their parking options.

Objection 9: Penalising Households Without Frontage Parking

The parking zone penalises households with no frontage parking, who
have fewer options to avoid buying permits but may not currently
struggle to find spaces.

Section 17 discusses the perceived imbalance between households with
and without frontage parking. It acknowledges that applying permit
controls can exacerbate the sense of imbalance, and sets out why the
conventional regime of applying single yellow lines across driveways
offers a token of redress, as well as providing other benefits.

However, the argument that the parking zone exacerbates the
disadvantage of those without frontage parking is, generally speaking,
looking at the broader issues back-to-front. It is in streets where few
homes have frontage parking that zonal controls offer most direct
benefit to residents. This is by deterring various forms of non-domestic
parking from occupying scarce kerbside space upon which they, of all
residents, most rely, and also by deterring excessive car ownership
within the zone. Hence, this is why petitioning first arose amongst
residents of Princes Avenue and Tottenhall Road, not amongst the other
streets.

Terraced streets with no frontage parking are the obvious territory for
zonal controls. But, unavoidably, most zones include a mix of housing
types. The Council sees a particular benefit to those residents without
frontage parking, as well as to the wider community, in placing the
controls. But the status quo position of some homes having frontage
parking, others not, is outside the remit of the scheme to address. To




Page 17

argue that a scheme should not go forward because those it benefits
most continue to lack all the pre-existing advantages of those fortunate
enough to have frontage parking is fundamentally illogical. Households
to the west of the zone with no frontage parking are likely to face more
competition for spaces at present than counterparts to the east — the
latter may thus see less benefit to the scheme, and a greater sense of
imposition. However, taken as a group, they will see a net benefit from
the controls being placed.

Objection 10: Failure to Tackle Other Traffic Issues

The streets have problems with nuisance vehicle activity at school
times, high levels of traffic and pollution, speeding, lawless use of
mopeds, and poor maintenance of road surfaces.

All such problems fall outside the scope of the project to address and
should be considered side issues to the central argument as to whether
the parking zone should or should not be introduced. Future project
work is likely to look at issues around the school as well as the speed
and volume of traffic in the area. The sections above sets out the likely
benefit in curtailing some traffic, and hence lowering pollution, by
dissuading drivers from entering the area to seek free parking space.
There is no coherent argument to say that any of these factors will be
notably exacerbated merely by better regulation of parking activity at the
existing kerbsides.

Objection 11: Parking Will Be Displaced East of Wolves Lane
Displaced vehicles will occupy on-street space on streets east of the
zone including Wolves Lane and Tottenhall Road (East).

Wolves Lane/Mellville Gardens has been selected as the eastern
boundary of the zone reflecting that it is a busier road (thus a more
obvious boundary feature) and that homes thereon adjacent to the
proposed zone are generally well-served by off-street parking space,
which buffers occupants from any displaced parking.

East of Wolves Lane, Norfolk Avenue, Medesenge Way and Princes
Avenue (East) are similarly well-buffered by good levels of off-street
parking. The section of Tottenhall Road between Wolves Lane and
Beale Close is the exception within the set, having few homes with off-
street parking and generally being rather constrained in terms of road
space due to the lack of width and need to accommodate the W4 bus
service. This is somewhat mitigated by footway parking provision and by
the overspill capacity offered by the streets of St Paul's Rise etc for
domestic parking activity.

On balance, however, officers feel that retaining Wolves Lane as the
boundary offers greatest coherence. Adding in a section of Tottenhall
Road (East) to the proposals would have made it harder for road users
to understand the limits of the zone whilst also drawing within the scope
of the proposals a set of households from whom little has been heard
hitherto about seeking zonal parking controls. Officers feel, furthermore,
that any drivers who do seek, henceforth, to store cars on streets to the




Page 18

east will likely look first for spaces on the other streets listed above,
where more capacity is to be found and parking spots are less
intrusively set directly in front of other householders’ windows, and the
risk of damage from passing buses does not apply. In conclusion, the
adverse effects should manifest little on the section of street where they
would be most intrusive.

25.Individual Objection — Upsdell Avenue Dental Surgery: Messages
representing the dental surgery at 1b Upsdell Avenue were received in
previous consultation exercises. An anxiety about loss of customer and
staff parking prompted the query as to whether a business bay could be
provided. An explicit objection was also placed reading: “The proposed
scheme will severely impact access to NHS care. Many of our patients
have mobility issues and public transport is not an option for them. They
rely on nearby parking in order to access our services.”

26.Business bays are sometimes provided in parking zones for use by
traders who have routine need to make trips to and from the premises
across the business day in a vehicle, such as a locksmith, and who would
otherwise need to store said vehicle at significant distance from the
workplace, hindering their operational activities. With no other registered
businesses within the zone boundary, provision of business permits and
bays was not favoured. Nor are they intended to be used as customer
parking places (business bay permits are linked to vehicles registered to
the premises) not for use of staff merely to facilitate travel to work by car,
as this represents a bypass of the intended overall deterrent on commuter
parking.

27.These being the rules applied across Enfield parking zones, and with
business bays and permits not favoured, the dental practice would not be
eligible for an annual permit nor for visitor permits. These are only
available to domestic premises inside the zone. They could still leave
vehicles across their own dropped kerbs, but not during the operational
period when the yellow line becomes effective.

28. Officers did not feel that the car-based commuting preferences of surgery
staff — for the various reasons given above - was a good reason to
abandon the scheme or attempt to contrive a layout that excluded the
western end of Upsdell Avenue.

29.1n terms of visitor parking, officers noted that the surgery features one off-
street parking space that could be allocated to less able customers when
appointments are issued. In light of the concerns around less able visitors,
the design was amended to include two disabled bays immediately
adjacent to the premises; one replacing what had previously been shown
as a cycle hanger, but that would otherwise have been a standard resident
bay, the other within a section of double yellow line near the junction with
Green Lanes. (With movements here inbound only since circa 2010, but
the junction markings dating from the period when two-way traffic was still
accommodated, the designers judged this section of double yellow line to
be non-essential.)



Page 19

30.Seeing that the premises are modest in size and that the practice’s
website refers to 3 surgeries running therefrom, officers felt that parking
provision accommodating, potentially, three blue badge holder vehicles at
once (whether driven by the patient or the person bringing them) would
fully mitigate the concern that vulnerable patients would be denied access
to dental services and would, in fact, represent relatively good levels of
parking provision for less able visitors.

31.Further mitigation around the ease with which vulnerable patients can visit
the surgery, before and after a parking zone is in place, is offered by the
following points:

0] The controlled period only applies at 11am to 1pm on weekdays,
hence the surgery could steer patients who did not have blue
badges but still felt they could only travel by car to visit outside
those times when issuing appointments.

(i) At all other times, any driver can park in the permit holder bays and
the overall effect of the scheme should be that more positions are
found vacant than they were in the years before. Under the present
scenario - with unrestricted usage of kerbsides by commuters,
Haringey residents, customers and staff of main road stores, and
so forth — the number of nearby on-street spaces the surgery can
reliably tell visitors, blue badge holders or otherwise, they will find
vacant upon arrival is zero. And off-street spaces, only one.

(i)  When a third of households across the borough make do without
cars - which must logically include people who are aged, or who
have infirmities, or who need to travel with small children - it cannot
be accepted that the absence of parking facilities presents a
definitive obstacle to their ability to travel or access services.

(iv)  Adriver displaying a blue badge can park in any of Enfield’s permit
holder bays without fear of receiving a ticket even during the zone’s
operational period.

(V) In the case of patients being driven to the surgery who are not blue
badge holders, none of the new controls prohibit setting down of
passengers, but they are quite likely to leave more gaps at the
kerbside for such activity to take place with greater ease.

32.The surgery followed up with a statutory stage objection. Their anxieties
about the effect of the scheme on wider business viability is addressed at
Objection 6 above. The loss of freedom for their staff or invited visitors to
park across their dropped kerb is mitigated by this limitation only applying
for two hours each weekday, and is addressed more broadly at sections
15 to 17 above. Their dissatisfaction at a non-domestic enterprise being
ineligible to apply for a resident permit is noted, but this limitation applies
across all Enfield’s parking zones and the reasons for business bay
provision not being added in this specific case is fair and logical, as
explained at sections 26 and 27 above.

33.The message rejects the addition of the two disabled bays stating: “The
proposed blue bays outside the practice will cause more disruption and
will lead to a greater number of missed appointments [by visitors who lack
the blue badge designation to be able to make use of them, officers infer].”
In the view of officers this is an unreasonable response to the design



Page 20

having been modified to directly address the primary point of concern the
practice first submitted.

34.At the present time, from the perspective of a surgery visitor, one of the

two spots is sterilised in terms of parking activity by the double yellow line,
and the second could be found already occupied by a driver who had left a
vehicle there for any number of different reasons. In future, a blue badge
holder will likely find at least one of the disabled bays empty and be able
to use it. If not they can use any resident permit holder bay, although
these may be further afield. Any other visitor will need to factor in time to
find a parking space and walk back from it to the surgery, exactly as they
would need to do under the present arrangements. But with the likelihood
that parking space will be more easily found, except in the 11am to 1pm
period on weekdays, which they can easily plan to avoid when making
their appointment if they are determined to travel there only by car. Hence,
to conclude that the addition of the two disabled bays will lead to a great
number of missed appointments is unreasonable.

35.The message restates the point about hindering access to NHS services,

which is addressed at section 31 above and addressed, furthermore, by
the very amendments to the design the surgery now writes to oppose. It
states “We serve thousands of patients in the local and surrounding
areas...” While this may be true, the practice does not need to
accommodate parking activity for more than a handful of patients at any

one time, even if every one of them travelled by car.

36.The message asserts that the arrangements “will be a hugely destructive

37.

measure and could lead to the collapse of our business”. The view of
officers is that, ultimately, the dental practice is a small business operating
from a location where visitor parking has always been limited and largely
impossible to guarantee. In common with the premises on the high street,
it retains its viability due to the good set of alternative travel options
visitors have available and due, in reality, to never having been reliant on
better parking provision to attract customers. Patients with genuine
mobility limitations and independent travel difficulties will, by the provision
of the disabled bays, find superior parking options in future. Other patients
who come by car but avoid the 2-hour restricted period, should also find
more space available near the surgery. By these factors, the hindrance to
visitor parking by non blue-badge holders during the operational period
(which is less than 30% of the working week) is easily and suitably offset.

Individual Objection — Upsdell Avenue Van Owner: The objection from
a van owner of Upsdell Avenue explained that the vehicle, which is
sometimes in use for overnight shift patterns, does not fit in their frontage
parking space but is generally accommodated across their dropped kerbs.
Under the proposals, the van would be liable to receive a ticket when so
parked, potentially while the driver was asleep following night work. On
occasions, therefore, it would have to be left elsewhere. While the
nuisance factor is acknowledged, officers do not see sufficient case to
abandon the whole scheme or create a precedent of leaving the kerbs
unmarked.



Page 21

38.The experience of needing to leave domestic vehicles which cannot be
accommodated in the frontage of the home at distance therefrom is not
unusual in the neighbourhood, or the wider urban network. One effect of
the scheme will be to reduce the nuisance value of this for the numerous
homes in the zone without crossovers, by the deterring of less essential
parking activity. Officers feel the scenario in question must be accepted as
one of the cases where the proposals offer drawbacks, as well as benefits.
While the particular anxiety around leaving vans beyond sight of the home
is noted, this too is commonplace. Vans kept at the kerbside are much in
evidence on Enfield’s network and can themselves be the subject of
complaint from fellow residents or road users due to hindering visibility
and so forth. One van kept on the street amongst so many others is not
particularly vulnerable, therefore, and the potential wrongdoer will not
necessarily know that the van seen is not in front of the property occupied
by its owner.

Preferred Option and Reasons For Preferred Option

39.Sections 6 to 12 above set out why the Council prefers to proceed with
introducing a parking zone as advertised in preference to abandoning the
proposals in the face of objections, as further supported by the previous
indications of overall support across the area. In short, to capture helpful
benefits in moderating local car use habits whilst also offering better
balance between the parking options of residents and other drivers.

40.Sections 12 to 17 set out why the commonplace, but now optional,
approach of marking single yellow lines at crossovers is preferred to
omitting them. This is, in short, for deterring blocking of driveways and
offering better balance to overall parking arrangements.

41.The option of proceeding with the 11am to 1pm weekdays only operational
period is preferred over the option of extending the operational period and
needing to commence the statutory consultation exercise afresh. There
are strong reasons for anticipating that the favoured hours will achieve the
desired effects, as set out under Objection 5, whilst helping minimising
certain concerns submitted by the objecting parties relative to a longer
controlled period.

Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies

42.The scheme will support the following Council priorities:
. Clean and Green Spaces — by helping to reduce harmful emissions and
encourage walking, cycling and public transport.
. Strong, healthy and safe communities — by helping to encourage active
travel, particularly for short journeys.
. More and Better Homes — by helping to enable higher density, low car
generating development.

43.Improved management of kerbside parking also supports the following
Council strategies:

. Climate Action Plan
o Air Quality Action Plan



Page 22

Local Plan

Enfield Transport Plan
Healthy Streets

Vision Zero

Financial Implications

44.The report considers the response to the preliminary consultation (August
2022) and statutory consultation (May 2023) on the proposed controlled
parking zone in the Bowes East area and recommends that a scheme be
implemented, as advertised, on a permanent basis. The funding of the
estimated £30k implementation costs to come from the Parking
Development Fund.

Legal Implications

45.Section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act (RTRA) 1984 places a duty
on the Council to secure, as far as reasonably practicable, the
‘expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic
(including pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate parking
facilities on and off the highway’. The proposed changes to the waiting
restrictions are in accordance with the discharge of this duty.

Section 6 of the RTRA enables traffic management orders to be made on
a permanent basis.

Section 45 of the RTRA 1984 provides authority for the Council to
designate parking places on the highways and section 46 enables charges
to be introduced for vehicles left in a parking place.

Section 55 of the 1984 Act sets out financial provisions relating to
designation orders, requiring an account to be kept of income and
expenditure in respect of parking places. Any surplus in the Parking
Places Revenue Account can only be spent on the items specified in
s55(4) (a)-(f).

The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996 prescribe the procedure to be followed in making a
traffic management order. Any written objections or representations
received during the period following the publication of a notice of
proposals must be conscientiously taken into account before deciding
whether the proposed order should be formally made.

The recommendations contained within the report are in accordance with
the Council’s powers and duties as the Highway Authority.

Equalities Implications



Page 23

46.An equality impact assessment at Appendix B discusses the equality
implications in depth, as applying to the ten identified groups. In brief, no
differential impacts are identified applying to the following 6 groups:
‘gender reassignment’, ‘marriage and civil partnership’, ‘pregnancy and
maternity’, ‘religion and belief’, ‘sex’, and ‘sexual orientation’. While the
lingual and ethnic diversity of the area is acknowledged, no differential
impacts are identified under ‘race’, however the issue of multigenerational
households is explored with respect to the need to purchase multiple
permits per home.

47.Detailed consideration is given to a set of somewhat overlapping potential
impacts applying to the following groups: ‘age’, ‘disability’, and ‘socio-
economic deprivation’. The standard provision in Enfield’s parking zones
for care visits and blue badge holder parking is concluded to mitigate
concerns around vulnerable residents being left more isolated by the
parking restrictions. Visiting is not made unduly difficult by the measures
proposed. Similarly, access to the dental surgery on Upsdell Avenue is not
deemed to be made unduly problematic for the less able, rather parking
and dropping-off options should be marginally better under the scheme.

48. Around the affordability of permits, especially as it might apply to older
people on fixed incomes, the assessment concludes that sufficient
mitigation is in place due to the annual permit prices being modest relative
to typical annual car-ownership costs, and due to the good alternative
(free) travel options available to older people in this location.

Environmental and Climate Change Implications

49.Sections 6 to 11 above set out how the introduction of parking zones
helps, on balance, to interrupt certain unhelpful travel habits and the
community’s present over-reliance on the use of private cars. This will
tackle transport-based emissions and tackle the varied environmental
impacts of car-dominance, even when the transition to electric vehicles is
more firmly established. The Council’s Climate Action and Sustainability
lead officer concurs with the above and adds that controlled parking zones
also contribute to a fairer use of the public realm.

Public Health Implications

50. Interrupting the community’s over-reliance on the use of private cars will
encourage more use of active travel, which brings public health benefits in
terms of lower emissions and greater levels of physical activity, as
residents can fit periods of walking or cycling into their routine journeys. A
shift from private cars to more use of public transport also offers health
benefits with regard to creating a reduced scope for road user injuries to
occur, due to poor driving or other types of driver error.

Other Implications — Procurement Implications

51.Any expenditure in relation to the implementation of these measures must
be in line with the Council Contract Procedure Rules and the Procurement



Page 24

Regulations 2015. Any contracts let or accessed must be managed in
accordance with the Contract Management Framework.

Report Author: Jonathan Goodson
Traffic Engineering Manager
jonathan.goodson@enfield.gov.uk
0208 132 0988

Appendices
Appendix A — Scheme Proposals Drawing
Appendix B — Equality Impact Assessment

Background Papers
None.



o

requires a sign on a lamp-post
or a new post(NP)

— gingle yellow line matches controlled
= . .
hours of permit bays, deterring
unwanted parking across driveways

B proposed cycle hanger

=< possible non-approved 'crossover

TNP

NP

! 3 /V/ i > | 1 5/ .J \é
~ N\ le J" - D AT
T _nothern end of - iz =
. A
ﬁ——r\: - Fairbrook Close ¢ h Z =
N —‘ / '7:|< ]
- v o L M [ - ’ B N | ) I - L M1 T [ 1 PR
- _:; " E e
a ,-({’1 87 93 97 10 107 11 117 121 127 137 /}
E 8 K T g T T K T T | — T 1— [ 1 — I 1 — I 1 b ! H _Ij
R 7 j v . - E{s — ! -
4Ip ‘J"I L] 6 <] <] D2 SIS = B ¢ T _Ju i
= 49 09 aN O 111 ll |
E&: i :j\ Al o | s 27 ° - ey =" DRINCES AVENUE T o
, o1 25 NP PRlNCES A\/EN e ST NP Co SIF NP SIDG = s S T o * > ] > Z 11 ] |0 % Il
' : i C'__‘——' ! ! ' E T T 1 T . i T T ] 7 = AESEAEARN i;uuL dnin Iyl
< e 08 8 88 26 96 001 901 | € 21l CL b2l 9€1| 8€1 £ D AREpNNN LT I
. ~ NP £ ALL RO — :;9( I, ,,,\,,,\,,,\IL,\ ,..N\,.,\I_,.,\_b o
- G 9 ’ AL > o i gy =1 e 1 e e W R R B LLJ g 1 e e 1 e N A [ | — TOTTENH 2 T cAfl!
CES NUE e s é'é é .,,,\S
PRIN v A g l ;
= NP v2 o€ % E(_ |_,- H | T J“
" Ve L1 GRENOBLE GARDENS 7-2F
2\ v x ] | | RRNEARNN pa s ) |
g » T T
= Xisting : =
. e e e e e TR TR TP eyele hanger i | e /] n il 3
N 2}
FH k 7 . i a - = \ = = A — [IE T i 2 ]——;:uﬁ?u;
._I_‘ - 57 61 [ i i | I | | i T | I i | LI LT \ D. UPSDELL AVENUE I ]—_—_—::ﬁ: ﬁa’
2 NP o 2 NP a2 NP o NP o Py oNP o 2 NP ; TR 1 1O | [ r_
I"_‘ || 37 43 2 0 e Y 4 =
29 N 0AD TOTTENHALL ROAD - | z
LL_' 9 15 = TDTTENHALL Rﬂ“"’ g S NP NP - - 2 é
l"_l 1 o NP = T > U_\— W * ~ 3 0 I ‘lp-l o Hv \‘ﬁ\ ] N
| ° Flsub Sta LN A LA A AN AN A AN A nl I g NS —f =
= op 1 95 29| ¥9 89 8L 08 | 28 98 86 it 7” =71 ] BERKSHIRE GARDE
B | & O T I A A A
TOTT HALL R rS ,_ /:\ ReEias sk il hina 1 ]
. NP Ve ov _I _(— _\ >\/ FOTTTCTIITIITT T
8c 1 \\/
91 - | @/ ) LM
2 >
¢ Tottenhall Infant School | |& 0 B\
& Children’s Centre 75 |7 |: ;\3%
] o TN
- ( ' N &
Oos1s —
51| 53| 55| 57|59 | 61 63 67 | 69 73 79| 81 93
T TN TN N TN TN T T T TR TN T AN
1
o o NP o = e NP - o NP
'\ SCHOOL — KEEP —CLEAR -
37 41 43 |45 |47 | 49 7 GENS GRENDOBLE GARDE e —
s L el s : |
7 21 23 o Q \’E Py TNP - NP NP N m o TNP o o q [
\ 5 9 13 L 2 NP S — o GRE\\\ 5,
v Q
3 | > Ia\Valal/aN o I N
i+ NP 2 3 N~ N~~~ L L AN NN N OT)I\I\ /\QO\I_/\— 811 o
: - v/ 08 98 06 96
= TNP TP P
S BEE
GRENDOBLE GARDEN 5/ /|
o -~ o p. g 09 179 89 —_ I_ F
» . 144 8v ! [\ ':, )
2 Jos v2 82 <
g — ] .l T ] I I . I I
Revised design: Two disabled
bays intended for communal use - 5 11 117 ©
95
by blue badge holders proposed | . o 85 ot
7
near dental surgery s3| 55 || 57| 59| 61| 63|| 65| 67| | 69| 71 - : =
U o] o] 1c 1o Ll—_ 3| s | 7 Ls|n ;3| 15| | 17| 19| ] 2| e3|| 25| 27| 29| 3| |33 35|| 37| 39|| 4 | 43|[45] 47| | 49| 5 e \ R BY 2 UPSDELL AVENUE
_\_/. P o NP NP N
\ l><]§ %| ><| ,><|| L = l><| | TN NP NP
) NP v
. LY T an X ALY : - l . UPSDELL AVENUE o = S
o NPLo o = N
221
UPSDELL AVENUE o = - _ : XD . > X . . -
ST 5= . = o <1 X ° \ \ e 001 §
=z
o o1 ze| 7o || 99 |80 || oc| 2e|| ¥ 9‘\ 0% <
92 | — 2s || vo | 9s || 8s
¢ |r2 s o1 T sl o [t llor st i oz| 22| v2 | [ 02 | 82 || oe | 2e||we |oe||ae| O || 2| v || ov]|8"|]| oS L %
NpS— >
— L —
U e e e A O A A d
=
115 | 117 | | 119 | 121 | 123 D
l l I _ 71 B 51105 | | 107|109 111 | 113
B ol m e | —I— ﬂ j—LJ—LJL b ol g7 les| o | 93|95 1971 N
lb 1 o | e3les|er|eo| 7t | |73 75| 77|77| & 83 —
c 47 49 | 51| 53|55 | 57| 59 NN - - -
Id 1 sls| 719 1 13| 1517|192l |23 25 27| 29 _31/\3;3__3\5/ Jl_afj\jl__g\iiv__ 2L I PR T T N o L o
A h T TN TN Y did i D e BERKSHIRE GARDENS .
NP NP NA _,_NM |><| |><| o eNP |><”><E‘}/ =
~~—_ Pl s = ] D sl = = ) BERKSHIRE GARDENS =
- - |><l o - NP TNP PN L~ L~
BERKSHIRE GARDENS - : - — e NP ‘ <1 X X : - 2| vai | se! _/881\ 0e1 | 2e1 | vET | 9ET
S = : so1 | 8ot| 011 | et
PN PN PN AN BN I SN N N e s BV L e oS o2 - Sve nth f;f_g;@_—(fs\/a\e—_@ o8 Tag |06 | 26 | v6 | 96|86 | 00| 20| | VO i
N RV N IV (Ve W BV A ey c |vc|9s|ss| 09 || 29| ¥ |
OV o) oo Yo oe e [ ve | [o3 [ ee | o8 [ee[ve | o€ | [ee fov | @vivr ) Or ) BT |08 | < | ‘
—Al | | T r 1 1| v ul L g L . Y Y Y
O o
" Lt . i ) V' \/ \/— SCHOOL— KEEP—CLEAR W’ ==
KEY: permit bays proposed at any bays break at existing crossovers- B cXxisting disabled bays to remain
+ EEEEN suyitable kerbsides - each bay



AutoCAD SHX Text
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
GRENOBLE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
2c

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
2d

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
GRENOBLE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
GRENOBLE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
GREEN LANES

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
2c

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
2d

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
1d

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
WOLVES LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
UPSDELL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
UPSDELL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
UPSDELL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
FAIRBROOK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
FAIRBROOK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
St Michael-at-Bowes

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
TOTTENHALL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
374

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
126

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
PRINCES AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
Clockhouse Parade

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
FAIRBROOK CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
Clockhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
Mansions

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
Tottenhall Infant School

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
& Children's Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
PRINCES AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
PRINCES AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
TOTTENHALL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
TOTTENHALL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
NO ENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
WOLVES LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
342a

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
FAIRBROOK CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
NO ENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
GRENOBLE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
1d

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
BERKSHIRE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
BERKSHIRE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
BERKSHIRE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
126

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
23


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27

ENFIELD

Council

Enfield Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA)
Introduction

The purpose of an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is to help Enfield Council
make sure it does not discriminate against service users, residents and staff, and
that we promote equality where possible. Completing the assessment is a way to
make sure everyone involved in a decision or activity thinks carefully about the likely
impact of their work and that we take appropriate action in response to this analysis.

The EqlA provides a way to systematically assess and record the likely equality
impact of an activity, policy, strategy, budget change or any other decision.

The assessment helps us to focus on the impact on people who share one of the
different nine protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010 as well as
on people who are disadvantaged due to socio-economic factors. The assessment
involves anticipating the consequences of the activity or decision on different groups
of people and making sure that:

e unlawful discrimination is eliminated
e opportunities for advancing equal opportunities are maximised
e opportunities for fostering good relations are maximised.

The EqlA is carried out by completing this form. To complete it you will need to:

e use local or national research which relates to how the activity/ policy/
strategy/ budget change or decision being made may impact on different
people in different ways based on their protected characteristic or socio-
economic status;

e where possible, analyse any equality data we have on the people in Enfield
who will be affected eg equality data on service users and/or equality data on
the Enfield population;

o refer to the engagement and/ or consultation you have carried out with
stakeholders, including the community and/or voluntary and community sector
groups you consulted and their views. Consider what this engagement
showed us about the likely impact of the activity/ policy/ strategy/ budget
change or decision on different groups.

The results of the EqIA should be used to inform the proposal/ recommended
decision and changes should be made to the proposal/ recommended decision as a
result of the assessment where required. Any ongoing/ future mitigating actions
required should be set out in the action plan at the end of the assessment.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 28

ENFIELD
Council
Section 1 — Equality analysis details
Title of service activity / policy/ Introducing the proposed Bowes

strategy/ budget change/ decision that | East Controlled Parking Zone
you are assessing

Team/ Department Highways, Traffic & Parking
(David Taylor)

Executive Director Simon Pollock

Cabinet Member Clir Rick Jewell

Author(s) name(s) and contact details | Jonathan Goodson
jonathan.goodson@enfield.gov.uk

Committee name and date of decision

Date the EqlA was reviewed by the 11.09.23
Corporate Strategy Service

Name of Head of Service responsible David B Taylor
for implementing the EqlA actions (if

any)

Name of Director who has approved Doug Wilkinson
the EqlA

The completed EqlA should be included as an appendix to relevant EMT/ Delegated
Authority/ Cabinet/ Council reports regarding the service activity/ policy/ strategy/
budget change/ decision. Decision-makers should be confident that a robust EqlA
has taken place, that any necessary mitigating action has been taken and that there
are robust arrangements in place to ensure any necessary ongoing actions are
delivered.

Section 2 — Summary of proposal

Please give a brief summary of the proposed service change / policy/ strategy/
budget change/project plan/ key decision

Please summarise briefly:
What is the proposed decision or change?

What are the reasons for the decision or change?
What outcomes are you hoping to achieve from this change?

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 29

ENFIELD

Council

Who will be impacted by the project or change - staff, service users, or the wider
community?

Summary of Proposal

The Council is in the process, as of summer/autumn 2023, of adopting a new policy
position on controlled parking zones (CPZs). It has identified a strong policy platform
supporting their placement on the public road network, as a means to best manage finite
kerbside space and unlock benefits around greater use, across the community, of active
and sustainable travel modes.

Schemes are predicated upon selling parking permits - with prices set uniformly across
the borough at relatively modest levels — to car owners living within the zone, prohibiting
use of its kerbside parking space during strategic periods by other drivers. Deterring daily
commuter car trips, many of them short in distance, is a key aim, as cars are the least
space-efficient form of travel. Private car use is also the mode of travel that contributes
most to unwelcome factors such as traffic-dominance and noise.

Accordingly, the Council seeks to introduce permit parking zones on a more widespread
and proactive basis, going forward. Rather than scheme work arising only in response to
petitions or other clear public expressions of demand, schemes would be positively
considered in any of the following circumstances:

a) Where there is an outstanding commitment to take forward a CPZ.

b) Where a CPZ would help achieve a mode shift in favour of active travel and/or
public transport, either on its own or as part of a wider package of measures.

c) Where a CPZ would facilitate the delivery of new housing or employment.

d) Where a CPZ would help address an existing parking problem, where on-street
parking stress exceeds 85%.

This equality impact assessment addresses the specific proposal for a new
parking zone across the roughly 700 homes of the Bowes East area,
operating weekdays only, 11am to 1pm.

Bowes East CPZ falls under the category of a scheme around which commitments have
already been given. The decision to proceed to the statutory stage of consultation in April
2023 indicated the intent of the Council to bring a scheme about, subject to the
consideration of statutory stage objections. But other factors listed above also apply to this
particular proposal.

A key consideration with any zonal parking scheme — when thinking of the effects on
protected groups - is around (i) the affordability of the annual permits that car-owners
would henceforth need to purchase in order to leave their vehicles in the on-street bays.

In order to facilitate domestic visitor activity, (ii) a visitor permit system must also be
introduced. These too represent a cost to the resident (or to their visitor, if they choose to
reimburse the resident), albeit those costs are very modest. A related consideration is
therefore around the affordability of visitor permits and the potential of zonal parking
controls to hinder or deter visitors to vulnerable people for the purpose of care-giving or
providing company or otherwise promoting their wellbeing.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Council

ENFIELD

Page 30

128y gpfo pesodosd M .

pa|joajuos saLalew sul| mojjah ajbuls ——= fer] Upes - S2RIS0ISY S|0RINS —
urzwizd o} sheq peiaesip funspe N -slanossol Bugsie 12 yeaug sieg A y2 pasodoud sfeq puuad

I N - w27 | usnossam, panosdde-uou sjgissod sfemanup ssosoe Gurred pajuemun (drMsod meu e Jo
——t $ = Bulssiep ‘sfeg nuwad jo sinoy 1sod-cuwre) e uo ufis e saunbas

“asoly youuguey
10 pua Wayou

The area in question is seen below:

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 31

ENFIELD

Council

Contextual Information Around Car Ownership and Parking Arrangements

Part 1 - All of London

Analysis by TfL" indicates that the following factors are most closely associated with
higher than average car ownership:

¢ living in outer London;

¢ lower levels of public transport accessibility;

¢ higher income;

e children in the household;

e more than one adult in the household;

¢ in full time employment;

o Western European nationality.

At an individual level, car ownership varies by age and gender.
¢ Broadly, car ownership increases with age up to around 50-60 years old and then
declines beyond that.
e On average, 46 per cent of men and 34 per cent of women have access to a car in
London.
e Across all age bands, car ownership is lower amongst women, with this gap

increasing beyond age 40.

Car ownership also varies with ethnicity:
e Car ownership is highest amongst London residents of White ethnic origin, with car
ownership around a third lower amongst Black and Mixed or Other ethnic groups.
¢ Asian families are more likely than other ethnic minority groups to own a car,
although car ownership patterns vary substantially between different groups within

the ‘Asian’ categorisation.

Multi-generational households

e Many minority ethnic groups in the UK have greater proportions of multigenerational
households compared with the White ethnic group. Which may mean that they are
more likely to have multiple cars at one property.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/f
amilies/adhocs/12005householdsbyagecompositionandethnicityuk2018

1 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/12005householdsbyagecompositionandethnicityuk2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/12005householdsbyagecompositionandethnicityuk2018
https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

Page 32

ENFIELD

Council

Part 2 — Neighbouring Areas

Haringey, to the south, has a dense coverage of permit parking zones, with few built up

areas not falling under zonal parking controls.
L3

Upper, Edmontor

Parking
Zones within r
Haringey

f710) Angel Road

Alexandra Park

Part 3 — Enfield

Data around local car ownership levels from the 2021 census is not yet available.
However, the 2011 census gives insight into the prevailing level of car ownership, as seen
below, as featured in the latest borough profile published on the Council’s website.
Roughly one third of households in the borough do not have access to a car or van.

The 2011 Census data*® on cars available to households indicates that car ownership levels are about what would be
expected for an outer London borough:

Number of households with: 5::‘::; Enfield % E):r:ed:m % London % |England %

No cars or vans 38,933 32.5 30.7 41.6 25.8]
1 car or van 51,872 43.3 44 .4 40.5 42.2
2 cars or vans 21,997 18.3 19.3 14.0 24.7)
3 or more cars or vans 7,114 5.9 5.6 3.9 7.4

Data regarding the protected characteristics of permit holders across Enfield’s current
parking zones is not currently held.

Currently, around 15% of the borough falls with a CPZ, as shown in the Council’s mapping

seen below:

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023




Page 33

ENFIELD

Council

.l"||'|
- —

]
Erews Hill

Botany Bay \ i
2 Bulls Gross |

\
-;x.‘ 1 f i
: : {3 ._,‘."lllag
; Forty.Hill 7/ L

dle

S
Brimsdown
o {

F'é.—nder's_F!'ld
\ "-:.;.Eas-t Barnet T / ﬂ,{

=3 | - \Lower N‘:: 21N
otteridge 5 Edmangon J,’ A
dEF‘grk' Lo ‘f;, i y

/ | 3 3 |

]
/ Morth | —
JiFinchley_— k.2

| 1 = 5
e
o | ok T
+ S
; | il
# . [,

&

Demographic Information About Bowes

Summary
Bowes Enfield Source
Population Estimate (2021 Census) 10,788 329,993
Children aged 0-15 1,836 68,116
Working-age people (16-64) 7,543 216,855
Older people aged 65+ 1,409 45,015
% All Children aged 0-15 17.0 20.6 Census 2021
% All Working-age (16-64) 69.9 65.7
% All Older people aged 65+ 13.1 13.6
% Not Born in UK - 2021 55.9 40.4
% English is First Language of no one in
household - 2021 oo e
Area - Square Kilometres 13 82.2 chcal (.Bo‘femmem Boundary
mmission
. . Census 2021 / Boundary
Population density (people per sq km) 8,298 4,014 Commission

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 34

ENFIELD

Council

Relative Deprivation

It can be seen below that Bowes ward shares the relatively high levels of deprivation
found across the south and east of the borough. While no neighbourhoods therein are
within the top 50% least deprived areas across England, nor are any among the most
severely deprived neighbourhoods, as can be seen around Edmonton, Enfield Lock, etc.

© Crown Copynght and Database nghls 2023
Ovdnance Survay Licence no. 100018820

Index of Multiple
Deprivation 2019: Overall
deprivation decile by LSOA

Within the 10% most
deprived
neighbourhoods in
England

Within the 20% most
deprived

Within the 30% most
deprived

Within the 40% most
deprived

Within the 50% most
deprived

Within the 50% LEAST
deprived
neighbourhoods in
England

Languages
Most commonly-spoken languages by ward

2021 Census data reveals that English is the most widely spoken main or only language in every ward
in the borough, however 23% of Enfield's residents have a main language other than English.

The map below shows the second, third and fourth most commonly spoken languages in each ward,
plus the percentage of residents (aged 3 and over) who speak them as a main or only language.

The darker shaded areas show those wards with the highest overall percentages of non-English
speakers.

- e © Crown Copyright and Database rights 2023
" ~— Ondnance Survey Liconce no. 100019620

s \,

Ridgeway
Turkish 2.8%
Other EU lang 3.6% et B g & A%

Turkish 1.9%
Waest | Cantral
OXnav Hon LU Mg 0.aa \ Asian languages 1.1%

Cocklosters
Other EL lang 6 1%
Turkish 2. 3%

‘Other EU lang 3.5%

Turkish 2%
)A(Pﬂi-; 1.59,!
Grange Pul\\_H‘

b EU lang 4.1%

Turkish 2.2%

West or Central
Asian languages 1.2%

Southgate
Other EU lang B.4%
Turkish 3 6%
Other Non-EU langs 2.1% ~—.__

r EU lang 5.5%

Focus on Bowes Turkish 1.8%

Turkish 9.1%
Other EU lang 6.6%
African languages 3.4%

Edmonton Green
Turkish 10.2%
Other EU lang 5.9%
African languages 4.7%

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 35

ENFIELD

Council

Age and Gender

The ward has relatively high numbers of working age adults when compared to the borough average, and
proportionately fewer children. Women outnumber men in all age bands over 30 years of age (see table bottom).

Percentage of residents in each age group (2021)

mmm Bowes =———Borough average
20

14.2 14.7

0-4 514 15-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+
Population:
Age
85+ years distribution I 87 2 Female
80-84 years by sex IE.] 79
75-79 years 2021 [ 1438 [
70-74 years Census m]  Male
B5-69 years mm
5064 years T
45-49 years 405 | 35
3034 yeurs R N 7Y |
20-24 years m 375
1510 years W | )
10-14 years Wz | o)
59 years E T
04 years W |
900 600 300 [} 300 600 900

persons

Section 3 — Equality analysis

Age

This can refer to people of a specific age e.g. 18-year olds, or age range e.g. 0-18
year olds.

Will the proposed change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact
[positive or negative] on people of a specific age or age group (e.g. older or
younger people)?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 36

ENFIELD

Council

Overview of Considerations Around Age

Broadly, car ownership levels in London increase with age up to around 50-60
years old and then decline beyond that.2 However, the proposed zone will affect all
car users living in these zones equally, regardless of their age. It can be seen
above that Bowes ward has slightly fewer older people than the borough average.

Figure 1: Car ownership in London by age and gender
80% 7

70% 4
60% -
50%
40%

0% A

% of adults owning a car

0% 4

7% 7o

16-19 20-24 25-2930-34 35-39 40-44 45-4950-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-T980-84 85+

Nationally, we know that there has been a large increase in the number of older
people in England holding a full driving licence. Between 1995/1997 and 2020 the
proportion of people aged 70+ holding a licence increased from 39% to 77%.
Some people of pensionable age will have a fixed or lower income and could
potentially be disproportionality impacted by a new parking zone.

(1) Correlation Between Older Age and Disability

Any blue badge holder resident within a zone is entitled to apply for a free annual
permit, which should prevent any degree of age/disability correlation translating
through into a disproportionate drawback for older people. This aspect is
addressed further in the ‘Disability’ section that follows.

(2) Affordability of Permits for Older Residents

For the sake of consistency and fairness, zonal permit prices are standardised
across all 20 of Enfield’s across-the-week resident parking zones. Prices are
halved for short hour zones, relative to all day zones, hence the relatively short

2 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023


https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

Page 37

ENFIELD

Council

duration of the favoured controlled period is accounted for in the pricing. There is
no discounting on permit prices based on age.

Resident permits - 1-to-4 hour zones
Engine size First permit| Second and third permit
1000cc or less, and electric vehicles £38.50 £47.50
1001cc to 1600cc £77.50 £97.50
1601cc to 1999cc £115 £145
2000cc or more £197.50 £249

The ascending price based on engine size reflects the tendency for vehicles with
larger engines to occupy more space and to pollute more. The roughly 25%
surcharge on second or third permits is to provide some limiting factor on
excessive car ownership within the zone. The revised pricing regime was decided
by a recent Council decision on the matter, effective January 2023, and was
subject to the normal approval and scrutiny procedures. The uplift for 2n9/3r
permits is applied by vehicle owner, not by household. Two adults in a household
with a car registered to them each would both pay the first permit rate.

It is typical across London that residents are asked to pay for permits for such
schemes to match the cost of scheme administration and additional enforcement
activity. Government advice directs councils to ensure their parking control
accounts are self-financing. Permit prices are therefore set, borough wide, with the
aim of breaking even. It is appropriate to ask those who benefit most from the
intervention — car owners - to help pay for it, thus making any such scheme a viable
proposition.

The following points address the concern that the introduction of permit prices will
unduly affect older people, due to some having less spare money than those in
working age households:

a) The Costs are Modest or Else Avoidable

The annual permit price for a small hatchback in Bowes East CPZ will be £77.50,
which equates to just £1.50 per week. This is dwarfed by many other weekly
transport costs people typically incur like oyster fares or fuelling their cars. Those
drivers who continue running a car beyond working age have fewer reasons than
younger people to have particular need of a larger car (for transporting multiple
young children or work equipment or family holidays) or of needing more than one
car per household, hence the higher bracket costs should either be a factor they
can avoid, or can afford anyway, along with the other additional costs of running a
larger car or multiple cars.

b) Car Owners of Any Age are Unlikely to be Amongst the Poorest Residents
Ongoing costs associated with keeping and running a car (setting aside the cost to
purchase one) can easily reach £1000 per year, when considering vehicle tax,
insurance, MOT and maintenance, sundry parking fees, and the cost of fuel. We

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 38

ENFIELD

Council

see above that one third of households do not own a car. Hence it is reasonable
to conclude that the poorest households in the zone, for whom small additional
costs might be unaffordable, will not be liable to incur those costs under the
scheme due to not owning cars in the first place, regardless of age.

c) Good Alternative Travel Options for Older People

Furthermore, as an affordable alternative to car ownership for residents, older
people of pensionable age are eligible for free travel across London and free local
bus journeys nationally. The neighbourhood is well served by train stations and
bus services, with city-bound buses leaving stops on the adjacent section of Green
Lanes at a rate of one bus every three minutes. Few older people who can afford
to forgo free travel in favour of running a private car would, logically, fall within the
poorest group who are unable to afford the modest annual permit prices. The
Council has also put in place ‘brown badge’ bays in certain car parks to assist
older (70+) residents that don’t qualify for a blue badge.

d) Experience from Other Zones

It can be seen in the mapping above that existing parking zones in Enfield cover
areas of higher deprivation than Bowes. And yet the Council continues to receive
very little correspondence from the community — if any at all — seeking to have
zonal parking controls removed due to issues of affordability for older people. (Or
on any other grounds, in fact.) The obvious conclusion is that, when controls are in
place, residents do not find permit prices unaffordable. Similarly, in 2019 what can
be thought of as the twin of this scheme — called Bowes Park CPZ — was
introduced to the similar set of streets west of Green Lanes. Again, despite the trial
period, in that example, affording residents a specific opportunity to call for the
controls to be removed, no such requests arose. Moreover, it can be seen that the
extensive urban area south of the borough boundary in Haringey, again including
areas of similar deprivation levels and street layout and housing density to Bowes
East, is already covered with zonal parking controls. Officers are aware of no
indications that this brings issues around affordability.

e) Further Options in Exceptional Cases

In light of the four points above, the risk is low that the introduction of permit prices
will present a disproportionate issue for older people around the affordability of
resident permits. But in the exceptional cases, of a person of any age needing a
car but finding the permit cost difficult to afford, the following points of mitigation
exist:

e The controlled hours only operate between 11am-1pm Monday to Friday,
enabling some to avoid the need to purchase a permit if they are not at home
during these hours;

e On-street parking is still available outside the zone, a relatively shorty walk
away, for those electing to not buy a permit.

(3) Visitor Permit Requirement Having Isolating Effect on Older People

The idea that vulnerable residents in the area would be hindered from receiving
visitors was amongst the points of objection submitted. The issue is herein

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 39

ENFIELD

Council

considered with respect to — what might be imagined - its disproportionate
applicability to older people.

Provision exists for those employed as carers who make visits to the neighbourhood
to apply for an annual ‘essential permit’, at a cost of £25. Permit applications by
those offering regular care visits on a ‘friends and family’ basis will also be accepted,;
the standard annual permit charges, which are only modest, apply to these
applicants. Drivers, whatever the reason for their visit, who display a valid blue
badge will not attract enforcement activity for parking in any of Enfield’s resident-
permit holder bays. The scheme should not, therefore, bring hindrance to the routine
care and care-themed visiting activity associated with the most vulnerable,
regardless of age.

It should be further considered whether an isolating effect is likely to manifest
itself, applying disproportionately to older people, around visiting activity more
generally.

Visitor permits are available to all households within the zones. These cost £10.50
for a book of 10 and there is no restriction on the number of visitor permits that can
be obtained. An older person with no car on a fixed income might find the visitor
permits somewhat unaffordable. But the person who can afford a car who will be
making use of the permits should not find it unaffordable to reimburse the person
they are coming to visit. In addition, under the future arrangements, visitors are likely
to find vacant kerbsides easier to find when they arrive, providing some offset to the
modest cost deterrent that is imposed.

None of the controls prohibit a driver stopping briefly to pick up or set down a
passenger — where they plan to go out together for lunch, say - so visitor permits
should not be required for such activity. Visitors who did not want to make use of
visitor permits still have the option of visiting by car at weekends, or outside of the
11am to 1pm controlled period on weekdays, or by visiting without their car by active
travel options or taking advantage of the excellent public transport options serving
the location. Altogether, there are many reasonable options for visitors to exhaust
before deciding the visit is no longer worth making.

Anxieties around permit controls cutting off visitors to vulnerable or older residents
was a prominent concern raised at the same stage when the aforementioned Bowes
Park CPZ was being taken forward. It is suspected that parties inclined to object to
such schemes will often invoke a point of opposition they feel offers greatest
emotional resonance to add flavour to a primary point of opposition that is more
prosaic, such as disliking the principle of paying to park on their street. The reason
this is suspected is because, as set out above at Bowes Park, the topic never
resurfaced in communications with the Council once the scheme was implemented.

The one third of households in the borough who do not own a car will include people
who make visits to vulnerable friends and relatives. For such people the experience
of making journeys without the facility to travel by car and park for free immediately
outside the destination will be routine. Hence a minor cost or limitation on when such

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 40

ENFIELD

Council

visits occur by those who are fortunate enough to own cars should not, logically, be
a definitive obstacle to the visits continuing.

Mitigating actions to be taken

None. The provisions set out above, which apply to all such parking zones in
Enfield, offer suitable mitigation to the factors identified.

Disability

A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a
substantial and long-term adverse effect on the person’s ability to carry out normal
day-day activities.

This could include: physical impairment, hearing impairment, visual impairment,
learning difficulties, long-standing iliness or health condition, mental iliness,
substance abuse or other impairments.

Will the proposed change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact
[positive or negative] on people with disabilities?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

Relevant Data

At the 2021 Census, 44,900 Enfield residents (13.6% of the total) reported having
a disability, with 7.2% of people have their day-to-day activities limited a little; 6.4%
have them limited a lot.

Data on disability among the working age population estimated that in the year
ending December 2020, 52,700 (nearly 25%) Enfield residents aged 16-64 were
estimated to have a disability, higher than London (17.9%) and England (22.4%).3
In terms of our population of children and young people, Enfield currently maintains
Education, Health and Care Plans for 3.5% of 0-25-year-olds in Enfield, and around
10.6% of school age children and young people receive Special Educational Needs
(SEN) Support at school.

Impacts on Blue Badge Holders

There are currently 11,588 blue badge holders in Enfield. Disabled residents living
in Bowes East CPZ with a Blue Badge will not be impacted, as they will be entitled
to a free resident’s permit. Disabled people who are blue badge holders living
outside the CPZ will also be able to park for free in designated bays in the CPZ
while displaying their blue badge.

3 Enfield Council, Borough Profile, 2021

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023


https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/13525/Borough-profile-2021-Your-council.pdf

Page 41

ENFIELD

Council

Care and Care-Themed Visits to Vulnerable Residents

Provision exists for those employed as carers who make visits to the neighbourhood
to apply for an annual ‘essential permit’, at a cost of £25. Permit applications by
those offering regular care visits on a ‘friends and family’ basis will also be accepted;
the standard annual permit charges, which are only modest, apply to these
applicants. The scheme, should not therefore, bring hindrance to the routine care
and care-themed visiting activity associated with the most vulnerable. But it may
improve the likelihood of visitors finding parking spaces in good proximity to the
address being visited, by the deletion of all day commuter parking activity and such
like.

The section above on ‘Age’ covers points relating to impacts on those who are more
vulnerable than average, without being registered disabled.

Visitors to Upsdell Avenue Dental Surgery

An objection was received from the sole business operating within the proposed
zone boundary, the dental surgery on Upsdell Avenue, asserting that zonal parking
controls would hinder visits by less able patients. Being a non-domestic premises,
the surgery would not be eligible to buy and distribute visitor permits to its patients.

In terms of visitor parking, officers noted that the surgery features one off-street
parking space that could be allocated to less able customers when appointments
are issued. In light of the concerns around less able visitors, the design was
amended to include two disabled bays immediately adjacent to the premises, as
seen on the plan included above.

Seeing that the premises are modest in size and that the practice’s website refers
to 3 surgeries running therefrom, officers felt that parking provision accommodating,
potentially, three blue badge holder vehicles at once (whether driven by the patient
or the person bringing them) would fully mitigate the concern that vulnerable patients
would be denied access to dental services and would, in fact, represent relatively
good levels of parking provision for less able visitors.

Further mitigation around the ease with which vulnerable patients can visit the

surgery, before and after a parking zone is in place, is offered by the following points:

(i) The controlled period only applies at 11am to 1pm on weekdays, hence the
surgery could steer patients who did not have blue badges but still felt they
could only travel by car to visit outside those times when issuing
appointments.

(ii) At all other times, any driver can park in the permit holder bays and the overall
effect of the scheme should be that more positions are found vacant than they
were in the years before. Under the present scenario - with unrestricted usage
of kerbsides by commuters, Haringey residents, customers and staff of main
road stores, and so forth — the number of nearby on-street spaces the surgery
can reliably tell visitors, blue badge holders or otherwise, they will find vacant
upon arrival is zero. And off-street spaces, only one.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 42

ENFIELD

Council

(iii) A driver displaying a blue badge can park in any of Enfield’s permit holder
bays without fear of receiving a ticket, should the two disabled bays happen to
be occupied.

(iv) In the case of patients being driven to the surgery who are not blue badge
holders, none of the new controls prohibit setting down of passengers, but
they are quite likely to leave more gaps at the kerbside for such activity to take
place with greater ease.

Mitigating actions to be taken

None. The general provisions set out above, which apply to all such parking zones
in Enfield, offer suitable mitigation to the factors identified.

The addition of the two disabled bays offers suitable mitigation to the impacts on
less able patients seeking to attend dental appointments at the practice on Upsdell
Avenue.

Gender Reassignment

This refers to people who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process (or part of a process) to reassign their sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on transgender people?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

Mitigating actions to be taken

N/A

Marriage and Civil Partnership

Marriage and civil partnerships are different ways of legally recognising
relationships. The formation of a civil partnership must remain secular, where-as a
marriage can be conducted through either religious or civil ceremonies. In the U.K
both marriages and civil partnerships can be same sex or mixed sex. Civil partners
must be treated the same as married couples on a wide range of legal matters.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people in a marriage or civil partnership?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 43

ENFIELD

Council

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

Mitigating actions to be taken
N/A

Pregnancy and maternity

Pregnancy refers to the condition of being pregnant or expecting a baby. Maternity
refers to the period after the birth and is linked to maternity leave in the
employment context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity
discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, and this includes treating a woman
unfavourably because she is breastfeeding.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on pregnancy and maternity?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

Mitigating actions to be taken
N/A

Race

This refers to a group of people defined by their race, colour, and nationality
(including citizenship), ethnic or national origins.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people of a certain race?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

The proposals to introduce the scheme will affect all car users living in the zone,
regardless of their race, ethnicity and so forth. The measures are not identified to
affect residents of the zone differently based on these characteristics, hence
concerns around equality should not apply.

By way of context, based on the 2021 Census, residents from White British
backgrounds make up 31.3% of Enfield’s inhabitants with other White groups
(including White Irish) combined at 28.7%. Mixed Ethnic Groups account for 5.9%,
Asian Groups for 11.5% and Black groups for 18.5% of Enfield’s population.*

“https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranetchiefexec/SiteAssets/Forms/Allltems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FIn
tranetchiefexec%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FPopulation%2D%26%2DDemography%2F2021%2DCensus%2D

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 44

ENFIELD

Council

Specifically in the Bowes area, it can be seen that it has relatively high levels of
residents who speak languages other then (or in addition to) English. It also has
percentages above the Enfield average, of homes with no English as a first
language and of people born outside the UK, which might correlate to a greater
make up of minority ethnic groups.

The Council’s position on parking zones, in summary, is that they offer benefits
and to a lesser extent drawbacks (notably permit costs) to residents within the
zone but especially to car owners. Zones have, to date, been placed at various
locations across the borough (typically around train stations and town centres) in
an organic fashion, but giving a coverage that is not notably slanted to areas of
high or low deprivation, nor high or low levels of racial diversity. And it intends to
pursue further coverage proactively, based on the four criteria mentioned above,
again, with no particular regard to levels of deprivation or diversity.

It follows that, if the measure is not identified to affect residents differently along
racial lines, then the racial make-up of the area in question should not prompt
concerns around equality given that proposals have and will, going forward, apply
to wards across the full local spectrum in terms of racial diversity. Rather, it is the
factor of owning a car, or not owning a car, that defines to what extent the benefits
and drawbacks apply.

The cross London car ownership data seen above indicates that those of white
ethnic origin have the greatest proclivity for car ownership. Hence, when
considering the drawback of permit charges across all such parking zone
proposals, there is no concern of such a scheme having a disproportionate
negative impact on minority ethnic groups.

One difference that can be drawn along ethnic lines is that minority ethnic groups
in the UK have greater proportions of multigenerational households compared with
the white ethnic group. Which may mean that they are more likely to have multiple
cars at one property.® However, this difference should not translate to a particular
disadvantage due to the following factors. Firstly, with car owners unlikely to be
amongst the poorest group of people in the neighbourhood, each car owner should
be able to absorb and/or minimise the additional modest cost of a permit, where
needing one, irrespective of whether living in a multi-generational household or
otherwise. Secondly, the uplift in permit prices for 2"4/3 vehicles is applied by
individual owner to whom the vehicles are registered, not by household. Hence
several household members could purchase permits for their vehicle and all pay at
the lower tariff. Only where one household member happens to have multiple
vehicles registered in their name, and need permits for them, does the uplift come
into play.

%2D%2DEnfield%2DHeadline%2DReport%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FIntranetchiefexec%2FSiteAssets%2FSite
Pages%2FPopulation%2D%26%2DDemography
Shttps://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/12005
householdsbyagecompositionandethnicityuk2018

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 45

ENFIELD

Council

A final consideration, on the topic of language, is around how well those without
English as a first language can engage in the consultation and decision-making
process. The Council attempted to mitigate for this disadvantage, at the informal
consultation stages, by the following:
» Undertaking more than one consultation exercise
» Making options available to submit comments (and ask questions) by phone
and on paper proformas that could be submitted via officers or their ward
councillors, in addition to making digital submissions
» Including within its leaflets drawings and images that would make obvious
the nature of the proposal, even if the recipient needed to seek help in
understanding the meaning of the accompanying text

Moreover, the proposal has greatest impact on drivers. Residents who drive
should, logically, be those who have sufficient familiarity with English to
understand printed information of this type, given that they must also have the
capacity to read road signs, pass driving tests, and conduct the necessary
administration to keep a vehicle on the roads of the UK.

For those reasons, the hindrance around engaging with the proposals around
language is duly mitigated.

Mitigating actions to be taken

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

Consultation stage mitigation measures around how proposals were
communicated to those who may not have English as a first language are set out
above.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 46

ENFIELD

Council

Religion and belief

Religion refers to a person’s faith (e.g. Buddhism, Islam, Christianity, Judaism,
Sikhism, Hinduism). Belief includes religious and philosophical beliefs including
lack of belief (e.g. Atheism). Generally, a belief should affect your life choices or
the way you live.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people who follow a religion or belief, including lack of belief?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

Mitigating actions to be taken

N/A.

Sex

Sex refers to whether you are a female or male.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on females or males?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

According to the Census 2021, in Enfield 52.3% of residents identify as female
and 47.7% as male. This is very similar to the percentage split for London as a
whole (49 per cent male, 51 per cent female). On average, in London, 46% of men
and 34% of women have access to a car.®

The measures will affect all car users living in these zones, regardless of their sex.
The measures are not identified to affect residents of the zone differently based on
these characteristics.

Mitigating actions to be taken

No adverse impacts are identified applying to this category.

5 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023


https://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-12-how-many-cars-are-there-in-london.pdf

Page 47

ENFIELD

Council

Sexual Orientation

This refers to whether a person is sexually attracted to people of the same sex or
a different sex to themselves. Please consider the impact on people who identify
as heterosexual, bisexual, gay, lesbian, non-binary or asexual.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people with a particular sexual orientation?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

The measures will affect all car users living in these zones, regardless of their
sexual orientation. The measures are not identified to affect residents of the zone
differently based on these characteristics.

Mitigating actions to be taken

N/A

Socio-economic deprivation

This refers to people who are disadvantaged due to socio-economic factors e.g.
unemployment, low income, low academic qualifications or living in a deprived
area, social housing or unstable housing.

Will this change to service/policy/budget have a differential impact [positive or
negative] on people who are socio-economically disadvantaged?

Please provide evidence to explain why this group may be particularly affected.

For context, Enfield’s IMD ranking compared with the 316 other local authorities in
England dropped from 2015 to 2019: Enfield is now the 74th most deprived local
authority in England overall, so still within the most deprived 25% of all districts.
Enfield’s average deprivation score has not worsened. However, Enfield has
become relatively more deprived when compared with other London boroughs. In
2015, Enfield was the 12th most deprived borough in London, whereas in 2019 it
was the 9th most deprived.

It can be seen in the images above that Bowes ward is relatively deprived
compared to the borough average, but less deprived than other areas covered by
parking zones.

This proposal will affect all car users living in the zones, with a key drawback being
permit prices. There follows a discussion on whether this amounts to a
disproportionate impact on those who are socio-economically disadvantaged.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 48

ENFIELD

Council

a) The Costs are Modest or Else Avoidable

The annual permit price for a small hatchback in Bowes East CPZ will be £77.50,
which equates to just £1.50 per week. This is dwarfed by many other weekly
transport costs people typically incur like oyster fares or fuelling their cars.

b) Car Owners are Unlikely to be Amongst the Poorest Residents

Ongoing costs associated with keeping and running a car (setting aside the cost to
purchase one) can easily reach £1000 per year, when considering vehicle tax,
insurance, MOT and maintenance, sundry parking fees, and the cost of fuel. We
see above that one third of households do not own a car. Hence it is reasonable
to conclude that the poorest households in the zone, for whom small additional
costs might be unaffordable, will not be liable to incur those costs under the
scheme due to not owning cars in the first place.

Nationally, we know that car ownership in England depends heavily on household
income. According to the Department for Transport’s 2019 National Travel Survey,
45% of households in the lowest real income level quintile do not own a car or van
compared with 14% of households in the highest real income level quintile.”

c) Good Alternative Travel Options

Affordable travel options for older people are set out above. Furthermore,
according to research undertaken by Transport for London, the most commonly
used form of transport for Londoners with lower household incomes (below
£20,000) is walking. The bus is the next most used form of transport with 69% of
people with lower household incomes taking the bus at least once a week
compared to 59% of all Londoners. In addition, 42% of Londoners with a
household income of less than £20,000 have household access to a car compared
with 65% of Londoners overall, declining to 27% of Londoners in the lowest
household income bracket (less than £5,000).8

Most of the borough provides a good level of public transport accessibility,
providing a cost-effective alternative to car ownership. In addition, the Council is
investing in improving cycle facilities across the borough, providing a healthy and
cheap means of active travel. This will help some residents to travel without the
need to use a car.

d) Experience from Other Zones

It can be seen in the mapping above that existing parking zones in Enfield cover
areas of higher deprivation than Bowes. And yet the Council continues to receive
very little correspondence from the community — if any at all — seeking to have
zonal parking controls removed due to issues of affordability for older people. (Or
on any other grounds, in fact.) The obvious conclusion is that, when controls are in
place, residents do not find permit prices unaffordable. Similarly, in 2019 what can
be thought of as the twin of this scheme — called Bowes Park CPZ — was
introduced to the similar set of streets west of Green Lanes. Again, despite the trial

" Department for Transport, National Travel Survey, 2019
& Transport for London, Travel in London: Understanding our diverse communities, 2019

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-survey-2019
https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf

Page 49

ENFIELD

Council

period, in that example, affording residents a specific opportunity to call for the
controls to be removed, no such requests arose. Moreover, it can be seen that the
extensive urban area south of the borough boundary in Haringey, again including
areas of similar deprivation levels and street layout and housing density to Bowes
East, is already covered with zonal parking controls. Officers are aware of no
indications that this brings issues around affordability.

e) Further Options in Exceptional Cases

In light of the four points above, the risk is low that the introduction of permit prices
will present a disproportionate issue for the most deprived households. Further
mitigation includes:

e The controlled hours only operate between 11am-1pm Monday to Friday,
enabling some to avoid the need to purchase a permit if they are not at home
during these hours;

e On-street parking is still available outside the zone, a relatively shorty walk
away, for those electing to not buy a permit.

Mitigating actions to be taken.

The Council will continue to invest in active travel measures to provide a cost-
effective alternative to car ownership. The Council will also continue to work with
Transport for London to improve bus services across the borough, but in areas of
low car ownership in particular.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023



Page 50

ENFIELD

Council

Section 4 — Monitoring and review

How do you intend to monitor and review the effects of this proposal?

Who will be responsible for assessing the effects of this proposal?

Obtain additional information about uptake of permits by people with different protected
characteristics to enable better assessment of impacts in future.

Section 5 — Action plan for mitigating actions

Any actions that are already completed should be captured in the equality analysis
section above. Any actions that will be implemented once the decision has been
made should be captured here.

Identified Action Lead | Timescale/By | Costs | Review
Issue Required officer | When Date/Comments
Data on Review David | October 2023 | TBC
characteristics | options for Morris
of permit obtaining
holders not better
currently held. | information

about

characteristics

of permit

holders.

PLxxxx Bowes East CPZ EqlA — Sep 2023




	Agenda
	1 Approve the Introduction of the Bowes East Controlled Parking Zone
	ESS2324_003-BowesEastCPZ-AppA-Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout 3


	ESS2324_003-BowesEastCPZ-AppB-EqIA
	Introduction
	Section 1 – Equality analysis details
	Section 2 – Summary of proposal
	Section 3 – Equality analysis
	Section 4 – Monitoring and review
	Section 5 – Action plan for mitigating actions



